TOWN OF MICHIGAN

The City of Magnificent Distances
Robert K. Clark

Presented at a meeting of the Historical Society
of Greater Lansing April 15, 19§8G.

The town of Michigan, like Cinderella or Horatio Alger, grew {rom
rags to riches, from a virtual wilderness and swamp to one of the principal
cities in the State of Michigan. The site that was to beccwe the location
of the state capitol had no knowledge of its destiny, and was in no posi-
tion to prepare for the future.

There may have been some preparation however, thousands of years ago
when the entire State of Michigan was covered with a blanket of ice. It
may be that the glaziers were to cover an ugliness that had been in exist-
ance at one time, and that the gradual recession of the blanket of ice
would permit the formction of new features that would add to the beauty of
the country. Plains, hills, mountains and valleys were formed by the
receding ice. The course of rivers underwent a drastic change and we know
the Grand River as it appears today is little changed from its course of
a hundred years age. Vegetation returned to cover the bare earth and pro-
vide a means of existence for man and animal.

The land was agin inhabited by animal, and man whom we know as the
American Indian. The Jesuit priests in their exploraticm in the early
1600's found the American Indian in northern Michigan and later explora-
tions by the French claimed this country for France. Little recognition
was given to the claims of Chippewas or Ojibway, the Potawatomi and Ottowa
Indian tribes, who in their own right held the land as their home.

The®bend in the river) as the Grand River at this point was recognized,
was little changed. The river was used as a means of transportation by the
Indian and his canoe, the banks little traversed by man, due to the thick
swamps. A portage was located at Glen Island. This island is still in
existence below the dam at Moores River Park. Here the Indian crossed the
river and proceeded along a trail which ran over the uplands between the
streets now known as Walnut Street and Capitol Avenue. He again crossed
the river at another portage located below the dam in North lansing.

The wars between the French and the Dritish had little or no effect

on this area nor was it affected by a band of marauding Spaniards who
captured a fort at Niles in Southwestern Michigan. The "bend in the river!
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could not stay undisturbed for long, however, as the land bordering the
Great Lakes was beingz settled and it would not be long before it would be
developed.

Iaw and a form of government was unheard of and it was not until the
Treaty of Paris in 1763, when the French transferred various possessions
to the Crown of Great Rritain, that Upper Canada which inciuded Michigan
was considered in British Parliament and a form of law provided for con-
trol and development. Representatives were sent to carry out the direcct-
ives of the Crown but by their own commitment their grcatest coucern was
the management of the savages.

By the Ordinance of 1787, the Norwest territory was established and
& system of government provided under the direction of the governor and
Judges. It was not until after the Jay Treaty early in July 1796, however,
that Detroit and Mackinac were turned over to the United States by the
British Government and on July 15, 1796, Governor Arthur St. Clair
(General), proclaimed Michigan together with part of Ohio, Indiane and
Wisconsin as Wayne County.

In 1816, Indiana separated from the Territory and became a State,
as did Ohio in 1303. The Territorial Goverament of Michigan was duly
organized by the Governor and Judges at Detroit on June 30, 1805. The
State of Michigen now had a name and could be recognized. It was not until
December 24, 1814, however, at which tlme the Treaty of Ghent was sizned
that the war with Zngland was formally closed.

In the development of the Northwest Territory the Indian had to be
dealt with and it was in 1795 that a treaty was held at Greenville and
parts of the Northwest Territory was released. Another trealy, the Treaty
of Detrcit, was made with the Indians in 1807, which included &ll the
Southeastern part of the Lower Peninsula, east of the principle meridian
and south of & line drawn northeasterly from a point on the meridian line
that was due west of the mouth of the St. Clair River to White Rock on
Lak e Huron.

With the release of this land the United States was in a position to
begin the survey of the Michigan Territory so that lands could be sold.
A contract was made with Benjamin Houghs in 181K, for the survey of the
True Meridian and the survey began at Fort Defiance, at the mouth of the
Auglaize River and ran due north on Longitude 84° 22" 2UM west of Gresnwich.
The contract for the second control or the Base Line was let to Alexander
Holmes in 1815 and was located on Latitude 42° 26' 30" north of the equator.

The Saginaw Treaty was signed in 1819, and included that part of the
Michigan Territory north of that part released in the Treaty of Detroit
and to the north a2nd easicrly of a line beginning at a point 5 miles south
of the base line on the Prinecipal Meridian and running thence due west
60 miles thencc northeasterly to the headwaters of the Thunder Bay River,
thence down stream to Lake Huron. This was the first treaty to include
the "bend in the river®, The T he Treaty of Chicage in 1821, included that



part of territory west of the meridian and south of the Grand River except
a small area in the extreme southwest party of the Territory. The Treaty
of Washington in 1836, included that part of the Territory north of the
Grand River, and north and westerly of a line, drawn from & point on the
meridian where it was crossed by the Grand River, thence northly tc the
headwaters of the Thunder Bay River, thence down river %o the Lake Huron.
Each of these treaties included a vert of the Bend of the River. The
Treaty of 1821, included that part south of the River, and the Treaty of
1836, that part north of the River.

As these trealies were signed Ll:e area was opened for survey so that
the lands could be sold. As a result Iucious Lyon received a contract in
1825, tc¢ survey the exterior lines of what was to be Lansing Township.
Musgrove Evans was awarded the contract to survey the interior of this
Township in 1826, and for the first time we had a record of what was
located here.

Lucius Lyon and his survey crew experienced great hardship in this
and his other surveys. With the primitive instruments which were availabdle
at that time they were able to accowplish excellent control points which
are the basis of our property lines today. A stake was set at each section
corner or each mile and also at each half-mile or guarter-coruner. BRBearing
or witness trees were recorded to control the locstion of each stake that
was set. This record together with the comment made by Mr. Lyon as to the
type of timber along his survey lines, enables us tc identify the type of
country as it existed at that time.

In running north on the east line of the township, now Lansing Town=-
ship, which would be along Abbott Road, extended north and south, Lucius
Lyon crossed rolling first elass land with some swamp areas south of the
River. On the north side of the River the land changed to second aund
third rate. The entire course along the south boundary, now Cavanaugh
Road, was over first rate land. In running the west boundary of the
Township, north along what is now Waverly Road, he crossed rolling first
class land. The north boundary was somewhat different as it crossed low
level marsh land to the east and the westerly part was rolling second class.
The principal types of timber found along these survey lines were: ash,
beech, elm ironwood, sugar, asnen with no particular reference to special
stands of timber.

The same is true of the survey made by Musgrove Evans, only in this
case we have a more complete picture in that from the records of Mr. Evans,
we are able to recognize points where stakes were set to form the boundary
of section 16, which was to be selected for the location of the Town of
Michigan.

Mr. Evans firct set the southeast corner of section 16 at the inter-
sections of what are St. Joseph and East sireets. The witness trees at
this point were a 12-inch beech tree and & 16-inch maple tree with the
notation that the type of timber growth was, "oak, beech, etec., good rol-
ling land". Or running north on the line, east side of section 16, he



entered swamp at the intersections of Michigan Avenne and Fast Streect.
Witness trees at this point, a quarter-corner, were a 10O-inch swamp oak
and a 13-inch black oak. Approximately a block north of Michigan Avenue
he left the swamp and crossed a creek, he continued on to the northeast
section cerner which was set at the intersection of what is now Zast and
Saginaw streets. At this section corner the witness trees were an 18-inch
oak and a 1l5-inch white oak, his comments were that the timber was "oak,
beech, ash, and etc., and that the land was second ratel.

The next corner te be located with resvect to section 16 was south-
west corner loczted at the intersection of the streets now named Division
and St. Joseph. The witness trees here were a 2U-inch beech tree and a
3-inch beech tree with the notation that the land was very good.

Instead of running the north and south line on the west side of the
section the next line to be run was the south line of section 16 and this
would be along St. Joseph Street. The land was good, dry land and the timber
growth, oak, sugar and beech. The south quarter corner was set at the in-
tersection of Washington Avenue and St. Joseph streets on the west side
of the street. The witness trees at this corner were a L-foot, 8-inch
wvhite oak and a 7-inch beech.

After establishing the corrected south line of section 16, the west
line of the section was run and the quarter corner set at the intersection
of West Michigan Avenue and the back lot line of those lots on the west
side of Sycamcore Street. This is of course approximate, inasmuch as
Division Street does not appear here. In the replatting of the area, this
street was vacated. Witnees trees et this corner were a 22 inch black ocak
and a 6-inch beech.

Continuing north on the section line the northwesi corner was set in
Saginaw Street where it Jjoing the court that runs north and south betweern
Sycamore Street and Wisconsin Avenue, the east side of the court. The
land at this point was indieated as being very good with timter growth
of sugar, lynn and beech and an undergrowth of spice. From this point,
the north line of seciion was run east along Saginaw Street with the
quarter corner teing set on the west side of Washington Avenue, where 1t
intersected Saginaw Sireet. Here the witness trees were a 6-inch beech and
a 24-inch beech. ,

The line continued east on Saginaw Stircet acrass the River to Fast
Street. Here we have the boundary lines of section 16, Sazinaw and St.
Joseph streets, the north and south lines and Fast and Divicsion streets,
the east and west line. The north and south guarter lire being Washingion
Avenue and the east and west quarter line being Michigan Avenue.

The records show that there was extensive swamp along the river throuch
section 16 and the the uplands supported an excellent growth of timber. This
is sliown by the fact that one of the witness trees on the south side of
section 16, at the intsrsecticn of Washington Avenue and St. Joseph Street
vas a white oak, lU-feet and &-inches in diameter. A similar tree was cut
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down in 1949 when the State Journal cleared ground for its new building

at the corner of Grand Avenue and Lenawee Street. A cross section of that
tree is at present exhibited in the lotby of the State Journal building

and is approximately 4 feet in diameter with an estimated age of 137 years.
It is to be remembered, however, that this tree was probably a mere sepling
when the witness tree referred to above was marked during the survey in 1826,

With the completion of the surveys, lands were place on the market by
the United States Land Office. The sale of land attracted people who moved
in to settle the country. Roads were built and settlements located, dame
and mills were built along the rivers. The rivers were also used as high=
ways for transportation. This included the Grand River which was one of
the main traveled highways. The area 1l around The Bend in the River
developed. Roads were consiructed ¢ the north and south, however, there
was no development in the immediate vicinity of The Bend in the River.
Lands in this ares were sold however, in that the land was recognized as
being desirable.

Under the provigions of the Ordinance of Michigan in 1805, section
16 of each townshiv was set aside to be sold and the revenue to be used
for school purposes, therefore, there was no early sale of this land.

With the development of the southern pert ¢f the State there came a
need ¥or a form of government and a tax to help support the government
of the Territory. As a result the Territerizl Laws of Michigan were
developed in many instances a&s a continuation of the Original Territoriai
Laws.

The Council of the Territory of Michisan laid out the boundaries
of Ingham County together wiith other counties in 1823, and in November of
the seme year combined the counties of Ingham, Jackson and Washtenaw as
one judiecial district for administration of the Territorial Laws. With
all forus of government, revenue is required to support the various needs of
the people. This requirement is no different than that cf the early rulers,
kings, or other supervising groups of people. Under the Territorial Laws,
taxes were collected to suppori the govermnment. This practice continued
with the organization of the Michigan Territory.

The method of collecting and providing forfeiture methods were improv-
ed in the develiopment of laws for the control of Michigen as a State.
Taxes were assessed on various items and the people were required to pay
or the property on which the tax was delinguent was to Ve sold in accord-
ance with the terms of thc law. The sale was usually held by the sheriff.

At this time the only lands which were available for sale wers those
which were sold by the United States Land Cffice. As soon as surveys were
coumplete, lands were offered to the public and soon the interest became so0
great that additional land offices were opened to provide for the need of
the settlers.

In 1836, the south half of section 9, T. LN, R. 2W, was purchased from
the United States by Mre S, ... ¢ Bushnell, and the north half of section
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2l T. ¥N, R. 2%, was purchased by Mr. Wm. H. Townsend. Both of the tracts
of land were to become involved in the early history of Lansing.

There was another tract of land that is included in the history of
lansing and that is the south half of seetion 2i. This was purchased by
Jerry and William Ford from the United States, March 15, 1836. The Ford b
brothers came to examine their purchase and obtained the service of a guide
from around DeWitt, who brought the brothers to the north bank of the Grand
River on/or about Main Street and Capitol Avenue. From there the brothers
were able to look over their purchase. Their land began at about the
present Grand Trunk Railroad:,-~ .., . . / and extended south to Mt. Hope
Avenue arnd supported = swamp type growfﬂ'of timber.

Apparently satisfied with their purchase, the brothers returned East
to arrange for their land to be platted ints lots and blocks. The name of
Biddle City was given to this area and the lots were scld to the public
outside of Michigan Territory. It appears that there was no interest by
tiie cnes whe purchased the property in that no taxes were paid and as &
result, the property was sold for taxes. This plat was vacated.

It was at this time that the State of Michigan made its bid for state-
hood and was formally declared a state by Act of Congress, January 26, 1837.
Sales of land by the United States continued and Jacob F. Cooley purchased
the west half of the southwest guarier and the southeast quarter of the
southwest quarter of section 30, T.7¥N, R. 2V, from the United States,
May 2, 1837, and made his home on the land on the bank of the Grand River,
Though his purchase may not have been the first in this area, he undoubtedly
wag the firs! permanent settler. :

There were not very many people settled in Ingham County, bowever, it
was formally separated from Jackson and Washtenaw countics on April 5,
1838, when 1t was organized as an indevendent County. During the same
sewsion of Legislature, provision wes made for the organization of Alaiedon
Township which was to include four survey townships, townships 3 and L
North Range, 1 and 2 W. T. UN, R. 2W was later to become Lansing Township.
Settlers began to travel nerth out of Jackson, whick was ocn the road from
Detroit to Chicago, one of the mair traveled roads.

We find a record in the register of deeds office in Mason, the County
Seat of Ingham County, a partition deed, dated September 10, 1839, ia
which James Seymour, Monroe County, New York and other heirs L Y 4
Bushnell, are named as beneficiaries in the settlement of the Bushnell
estate.

With other lands, Mr. Seymour, acquired the south half of section
9, T. 4N, R. 2W, which would lic north of and adjacent to Saginaw Street
between East Street and Division Street. Mr. Seymour was to teke a promi-
nent part in the promotion and development of Lansing Township which was n
now organized as an indevendent Township, by Act of Legislature, February
16, 1842. The records indicste that the first meeting of the Township was
held at the Shantee near the Cedar River bridge.
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In 18&3. John Burchard, & young lawyer who had been living ii Mason,
recognized the water power potential on the Grand River near North Lansing
so he purchased those rights from Mr. Seymour , then the owner of the soutk
half of section 9. Mr. Purchard moved his family to what is now North
Lansirg and tuilt a eabin on the east side of the river to the eastcrly
or present dam site on the Grand River at North Lansing. He built hLis

demw in 1844 and in the spring, floods damaged 1t. Mr. Rurchard was
carried over the dam in the flood waters and drowned. The Burchard family
returned East leaving a dream for another to fulfill.

Mr. Seymour then hired Joab Psge to repzir and strengthen the dam.
This was followed by the construetior of 2 sawmill and later a gristmill.
The Page family had taken vossession of the cabin built by Burchard, and
being at the point on the river used as a portage and the only dwelling in
miles, provided accommodations for the few travelers who passed that way.

In the original Constituion of the State, when it was organized, one
of the requirements was that the seat of the government would be at Detreit
but thei a permanent locatiocn would be mede by the year 1847. Therefore,
when the Lecislature convened in 1847, the locztion of the Capitol was in
the order of business. It was only naturzl that the gentlemen of Weyne
County would attempt to retain the Capitol in the City of Detroit, as it
was the only City of any consequence in the State, the remainder being
virtually a wilderness. This, however, was not the general feeling of the
other members. As a result, a number of other locations were suggested as
a possitle site for the Capitol.

To promote development hear his holdings, Mr. Seymour offered a part
of his land for the loecation of the Cavitol. This would probably bte that
part of the south half of section 3 ithat lay north of Saginaw Street. In
order to convince the Legislature that his land was & desirable site,Mr.
Seymour prepared & map on which he showed the locotion of Lansing Township
with a star and red lines to other cities with their distances noted. It
is the feeling that this exhibit helped in the final determination of the
Capitol's location.

Kilbours amended the originsl bill considered by
inserting the name of lansing Township as the locetion of the Capitol.

Despite considerable dissention, hhe'bill we.s finally pased and signed by
Governor , March 16, 1847.

Little was expected of the locating of the Capitol in a wwamp in Central
Michigan~--it could never last. The Legislature attempted to see that it w
would nct, by reducing the spprovriation for the construction of a Capitol
building from $100,000 to $10,000, and providing only nine months in which
to construct the new Capitol building in lensing Towmship.

After signing the bill, Governor , appointed a commit-
tee of three to select the site for the Cavitol, one of whom was James L.
Glen. They were directed to proceed to Lansing Township as scon as weather
permitted.




To make sure that all avalable public land would be considered, the
Legislature, by Jjoint resolution, November 22, 1847, required the Auditor
Generzl to withhold from sale, all tax delingquent lands 2nd the Commissioner
of the State Land Office was to withhold from sale, 2ll state-owned lands
in Lansing Township. This included section 16 which had been set aside for
school purvoses.

The committee traveledto Lansing Townskip in early spring and met
Joab Page who was to show them the land that had been offered by Mr. Seymour,
presumably the wouth half of section 9 or the land north of and aldjecent to
Saginaw Strect. The committee experienced considerable hardshipin that the
country was what it had been szid to be--a dense forest with numerous sturdy
oak similar to that referred to in Mr. Hvans! uotss on the survey of the
south line of section 16--paks Y4 feet, % inches in diameter. A swamp area
extended all along the east side of the Grand River. This can be observed
today as the low area that extends on either side of Michizan Avenune and back
as far as Cedar Sirest.

When the first birdge was built acress the Grand River at Michigan
Avenus, the approach irom the east was fill from Cedar Street to the bridge
abutuent. The extent of the fill csn be observed today at the eity parking
lot across from building formerly occupied by Sears and Roebuck and the
viaduct for the railroad track at Mill Street. This low area supported a
dense growth of swazap timber and brush. This area was also subject to flood-
ing as even we, of later years, have experlencad.

The committee arrived for their appointment with Mr. Page, portaged
the river north of the dam, for there were no bridzes, to reach Mr. Seymour's
land and the desirabla part of sdetion 16. Cilher locations were examined dn
Lansing Township and the committee finally made their selection of the
Capitol site in section 16 lying west of Grand River.

A stake was driven in the ground for the Capitol site in early May,
90 rods west of the river on the east and west quarter line, which is now
Michigan Avenue and 30 acres were set aside for the Capitol grounds and
park site. The 30 acres selectsd, started at a point 20 rods south cf the
east and west guarter line on tue west bank of the Grand River and ran west
122 rods, along what is now Allegan Street to Walnut Street; north 40 rods
along Walnut Street to Ottawa Street; east on Ottawa Street, 127 rods, to
the river and south th the place of beginning.

There was naturally a celebration with the locating of the Capitnl
site and it is not unrcasonatle to believe that there were some new faces
in the area who wanted to be in on the ground floor s¢ to speak. The bill
locating the Capitol had been signed in March and there had been ample time
for speculators 1o explore the area by the time the committee members ar-
rived.

Ingsmuch as the land selected was State land, the State was then re—
quired to make a plat subdividing the section into lots. Mr.
Silvers, State Land Commissioner, proceeded to d@o this and the plat of the



Town of Michigan wae placed on record. It covered the entire section 16,
Michizan Avenue being on the easi and west quarter line and the north and
south quarter line lying along the west side of Washington Avenue. To make
sure {hat 2 control was maintained for the future surveys a large stone was
placed at the intersection of Washington and Saginaw streets, Washington
Street and Michigzan Avenue and at Washington and St. Joseph streets. An
HX" was scribed in the stones which were sunk a foot velow the surface, to
marlk the intersecting lines north, south, east aad west.

Practically no timber had been cut in section 156--tais would have been
in trespass on State land. Timber, however, had been cut by Mr. Page on
Mr. Seymour's land and in particular at the location of the dam and sawmill.,

Mr. Page more or less turned his home into a hotel as it was probably
the only cabin here. Not for long, however, as & bullding boom was in
progress at The Bend of the River. Homes were built--ihe first ccustruection
being at North Lansing near the portage as there was still no bridge over
the Grand River. A bridge had been constructed across tue river at Cedar
Street in 1841, and a trail road was located along what is now Cedar Street.

_Turner built the first frame house in North Lansing on Turner
Street between Franklin--now Gread River Avenue and Dodze Street. The
committee charged with the building of the Capitol had just 2 hort time
in which to complete the building for occupancy. Here it was May--ond the
location had just been selected.

With the completion of the plat, the builders moved in. The block
fronting on Washington between Allegan and Washtenaw Streets was selected
for the temporary Capitol. The building was set well back aff of Washington
in the ceater of the block and facinz Washington Avenue. Timber was éleared
and construction began. Payment for the lumber for the Capitol, produced
at the sawmill of Mr. Page, was suthorized by Resolutica No. 55 by the
Legislature in 1848. The materizal for finishing the trim on the inside
of the Capitol was freighted in.

This was just a beginning as there was cecnsiderabdble activity in
private interests. With the plat being completed, Mr. 0 « - Silvers,
State land Office Cowmmissioner, was reguired to have the loat; appraised.
Jor this purpose he selected John M. French, Richard Feriis, and Josenh
L. Huntington, who personally examined and appraised each lot.

There was also the problem of planning what property the Town of
Michigan would reserve for parks, churches and school sites. Az a
result of planning, Block 78 and 79, Ferris Park and Play Ground were
held for park purposes. Blocik 81, the location of Central High School,
was held for school purposes. The east half of Block 124 and all of
Block 125, were set aside for zovernassnt purposes, now occupied by the
Cass Building. Block 140 was held for school purnoses, now YWest Junior
and Xalamazoo Strasei 8chool#. Block 137 was held for park purposes and
is now Reutter Park.
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The first grant to a church was Lot 6, Block 96, in 18U8, to the
Methodist KEpiscopal; the next to Central Presbyterian in 1850 for Lot 7,
Block 96. These lots are loczted on the north side of Ottawa Street
between Washington and Capitol. Lots 7 and 8 of Block 63, were granted
to the Episcopal Church in 1856, the snutheast corner of Seymour and
Saginaw streeis. Other grants were Lot 1, Block 113%, at the southeast
corner of Grand and Allegan to the Universalists; Lot 1, Block 126, south-
west corner of Washtenaw and Townsend to the Baptists; Lot 12, Block 136
et the southeast cornsr of Kalamazoo and Capitol to the Rree Will Baptists;
Lot 10, Block 128 on the east side of Capitol Avenue, between Washtenaw and
Kalamezoo to the Congregaticnalsits. Religious interest has been very
active in the sarly development of this settlement with service being held
in the open by a circult rider and in the Page home and old Cedar Street
School.

A burial ground was also provided--the selection being Block 248, this
would lie at the southeast corner of Larch aad Saginaw streebs, It was
later decided that this would be too low for a burial ground so 2 plot was
purchased outside of town. This purchase could have been the cemetery that
was located on the south side of Saginaw and east of the Michigan Central
Railroad--now Qak Parlk.

The lots whiwh were not withheid were placed on the open market. In
the beginning, alterunate lote, in pairsg,were sold and it was found that
this created a hardship in the locating and clearing of the property, so
the policy was changed and all of those lots on the west side of the river
thal were not withheld, were placed on the mavket. Bétlfibuitbistiitobds
 ad i

Barly purchases were made, The first sale being made June 23, 1847
on Certificate No. 1, for Lot 1, Block 107, located at the southwest corner
of Pine Strect and Michizan Avenue. This certificate was surrendered for
some reason ani the lot was resold in 185bL. Certificate No. 2, was issued
to Philip French from New York and included Lot 6, Block 114, at the north=
west corner of Grand Avenue and Washtenaw 8trset. This lot was assigaed to
Solomon Lansing with a patent being issued ia 1887. Certificave No. 3 was
issued to Henry Jipson and William ¥W. Upton of Ingham County and included
Lot 12, Block 129, located at the sontheast corner of Washington Strect
and Washtenaw Avenue.

The lots in Section 1€, being classed as primary school land, could
be sold on a part payment agreement as vrovided by the statute regulating
the sale of this class of land. Payments were to be made each year with
interest and the taxes to ve kept paid or the State of Michigan could fore-
close on the certificate of purchase and resell the property. The certi-
ficates were subject to assignment and on full payment of the purchase
price, the State issued a patent. A number of the early sales were made
in the viecinity of River and St. Joseph streets. This can be verified in
the abstract of sales and the report of the Land Commissioner,in that one
of the first streets suggested as being needed, was River Street, from
St. Joseph to Washtenaw Strset. At one time, the thinking was that an
important section of the town would develop along St. Joseph Street and
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as a result, all cf the lots fronting on this street, were sold early--also
on Washington Avenue from St. Joseph Street to Michigan Avenue.

With the sale of lots, homes were built; together with places of
business, and thus began the Town of Michiean in 1847. As a matter of
convenience in laying out the Town of Michigan, Mr. Seymour's land and
that of Mr. Townsend had been included in the survey, the number of the
blocks beginning in North lansing and continuing to the south, including
the land of Mr. Townseud, the north half of Section 21.

One of the first stores in the Town of Michizan was on Cedar Street
at Main Street where Thomas, Bush & Lee from Howell built on the main north
and south road; they alsc had the first post office.

It was not long before Mr. Seymour built a hotel in North Lansing at
the intersection of Franklin and Center streets. The Benton House, another
hotel, was startad on the northwest corner of Main Straet and Washington
Avenue late in 1847 and completed in 1848. (®. H. Peck was proprietor).

¥With the development of the Town it was recognized that bridges were
needed. As a result, Mr. Seymour built a sturdy bridge acress the Grand
River at Franklin Street--a bridge thai was to last 20 years. It was a
long way around for traffic to the Capitol, especially for the transportation
of buillding material, as this was the only bridge across the river. The
people of the Town raised the necessary funds tc construct a bridge across
the river at Main Street, which lasted until it went out in a flood in 1g52.
It was replaced by the Township in 1856. The town was taking shape and be=
ginning to look like a town even though it was scattered through the woods.

It was not an easy task to clear land in the early days with the equipment
thal was available, especially when the trees varicd from 2 feet to 4 feet
in diameter. The contractors, Sammel P. Mead of the Covnty of Weyne and
George W. Peck of the County of Ingham, found this to be true. They had
entered into a contract with the Lend Commissioner, Mr. Silver, on the

29th of April, 1847, to clear certain streets of the Town of Michigan and

to certain specifications. This included clearing a strip 23 rods wide,
pulling the stumps and burning the logs so as not to damage the shade trees.
One yeer was allowed to complete the job at a fee of $2,000,00,

Further evidence of activity is found by Mr. Potter of Potter-
ville, who had been employed as & member of = survey party on the survey of
the State Road from Battle Creek to Lansing. They were avproaching the
Town of Michigan on their survey of the State Road, along what would now
be the railroad along M~78, near Waverly Road, when they heard sounds of
wood cutting and went to see who it could be. They fouad Mr. __Cooley
chopping wood on his farm on the south side of the river. Mr. Coolé§_rowed
across the river in his boat to meet them and took the party down river to
see wuat the Town was like. On the following day, the surveying pariy was
completing {ts’ survey and pessed along what is now Main Street and found
there, 1n the process of construction, the Bentor Houss, which was to be
one of the leading hotels.
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With the constructicn of the bridges at Frarklin and Main streets,
naturally settlemcnt developed at these points first and thus the names oi
Upper Town and Lower Town came into existence. The area along the river
on River Street, developed rapidly as there was still considerable traffic
on the river. Middle Town developed immediately after, inasmuch as the
pincipal interest of busincss were anxious to locate near the Capitol.

We must remember also, that Mr. Seymour &nd Mr. Townsend were not idle
in the sale and promotion of their properties that had been platted to the
north and south of the State Land. WorthlLansirg or Lower Town developed
fast with business and residential buildings. Nr. Seymour's hotel was
complete and prominent people made it their headquarters. It was & long
way from the hotel to the Capitol and the only means of transpeortatilon was
by horse and buggy or cutter in the winter. The other and more popular way
was to walk. TFew people today would think of such a thing. Mr. Seymour
in thinking of the convenience of his guests, and undoubtedly &s & promition
for access to his proverty, laid & walk of planks toward the Capitol. This
was quite an improvement &s the rains left the land wet and muddy. The
ladies had difficult times in that the brush had been cut ic a few irches
of the ground leaving a stubble thot was sharp aud dsngerous. Their flow—
ing skirts and petticoats caught on the stubble much to their dismay. But
it would be Gome time before walke would be provided.

Work on the Capitoi was nearing completion and the Legislature would
be arriving to convene in their new chambers. There were probably a number
of the Legislators who were dismayed &t the thought of having to pnt up with
the hardships made necessary by the hurried construction of the new Capitel.
It was there to stay however, &nd they wade the best of it. Without a doubt,
there were some who wondercd how this had ceme albeut and whether or not it
was tco late to change it.

They were not given much opportunity to think about it as the 1848
Session was to be a busy oue. The State of Michigan had received 500,0C0
acres of land from the United States for internal improvement purposes, to
be used in the ccustruction of ro=ds, bridges, dams, etc. Cne of the early
acts of the legislature, to affect this area, was to provide 6,000 acres of
this land grant for the improvemert of the road from Detroit to Lansing,.
Other state roads: Michigan City to Maseon--Michigan City to Owossc to
Saginaw, were provided for. There were also a number of corporations auth-
crized for the construction of plank roads. The Town of Michigan being
the center of attraction required all these improvements and more.

Money was authorized for the construction of the bridge across the
Grand River at Michisan Avenue, by Act 174, 184C. In the same Act, provis-
ions were made for the improvement of the Capitol grounds and Michigen Avenus.
The improvement of the road toc Detroil was essential as the mail hed to go
through. The mail route had been estabiished by Resolution No. 16, February
8, 1848. It provided for & daily run from Detroit to the Town of Michigan.
The state was able to make it through in fast time, from 6 a.m. to 10 p.m.,
with a change of horses every 10 miles.



which

With the changing time it was recognized that the 1and/had been re-
reserved for the Capitol site was more than necessary and that part of the
30 acres east of Capitol Avenue and between Ottawa Streel and Allegan Street
and ircluding Blocks 99, 100, 101, 110, 111, and 112 was:released for sale.
The State also acquired blocks by warranty deed from Mr. Townsend in ful-
filmeut ¢f a certain bond peral sum of $10,000. These lots were located
south of St. Joseph, Pine and Townsend streets and on Hazel, Scuth and
Cedar streets at Junction of the Graud ard Cedar rivers. They were to bear
the classification of Capitol buildirg lands and the funds derived from
their sale would apply on the Capitol building.

Time passed and buildirg continued with business interest centering
around the Capitol arsa and along South Washington Avenue. The Benton
House was finished in 1848 and e number of the people who had catered to
the hotel in Lower Town now found it more convenicnt to stay at the Benton
House which became a headquarters for the Legislators.

The sale of lote by the State continued and according to Mr. Silvers,
$18,233 was received for ths sale of lots in 1847 and in 1848, $17,778.
Total sales for these 2 years being $36,011 or one-ihird of the appraised
value. The sales began to slow up however, as in 18L9, only $3,203 was
received from the sale of lots; in 1850, about $750; and by 1851, only $625.
Consideration was given to reappraising the remaining lots to that, as the
Commissioner stated, "they would not remain dead cn their hands".

Contracts were let for the clearing of the blocks held for school and
park purposes with the price of $15.00 per acre. The terus of the contract
also required fencing the blocks and granted the privilege to use the
property on a year-to-yeer basis for not more than § years. A similar
contract was given to Charles T. Allen for clearing and fencing the Capiteol
gsquare at $9.00 per acre, except that he was paid $210.00 for fencing the
square and granied the use of said square for one year. :

With the ¢learing of the streets and park areas, it was recognized that
the forest which had existed would at scme time disappear. As a result,
planting of trees wore made along the streets and in the park areas--these
plantings can be recognized in the great trees that still line our streets
--especially around the Capitol square, znd particularly in Reutter Park
in the planting along the diagonal walks through the dlock.

lansing continued to expand. Merchants moved in with their wares.
Mr. Seymour's mill wae probably the principal industry in Town as there
was plenty of timber to cut and lumber to saw. Building continued and
therefore there was a need for merchants. Homes were in the building
along with the Capitol and hotels, therefore, carpenters were in demand.

With the continued development and the operation of the Benton House,
arrangements were made to build a bridge over the Grand River at South
Washington Street. Both the State and private interest invested in this
undertaking in 1850. With the completion of this bridge, & new way was
opened into the Town of Michigan, the road being extended to Mt. Hope
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Avenue. This gave an entrance to the City from the south.

The State Journal, originally The Republican, was the newspaper of
the Town of Michigan. It wae selected by the Legislature in their resolu-
tion No. 8, Februsry 2, 1849, to be the official newspaper in which would
be published all of the official notices required by law. In their edition
of January 3, 1880, appeared extracts of earlier editions of 1854 and 1856.
The complete article by S. D. Binghem is of some length., The following
portions, however, give a plcture of the Town nf Michigan at that time:

"The population and business was scattered, and this
was essentially a city of magnificent distances. There
were only two brick buildings in this nart of the city
(and I think within the entire limits) the Benton House, : =~
now the Everett House, and the store occupied with W. G.
Patterson. Where the Lansing fouse now stands was a wooden
building aua just south were two log cabins. These were the
only dwellings between where the Lansing House now stands and
the Benton House except the house of George H. House and one
nearly opposite occupled by Stanley Brigge. Main Street
from Washington Avenue down to the river wes pretty well
filled with dwellings, there being a hotel on each side
of the river. The ground on which the State House office
now stanis was considered the outside limits of the town
. . . . To the west of the cepitel there were a few dwell-
ings oxcepting on Sycamore Street near the residence of
Elson Teeter, then known as Teeter Town. . . . Lansing
well deserved the name it then received, The hole in the
Woods, so far as its connection with the outside world."

William A. Barnard writing from the State lLand Office, April 22, 1861,
undoubtedly recelled the phresing used by Mr. Bingham in tkhe origiral
article in that he wrote to Ellen ~— — using the same descriptive
phrase "The City of magnificent distances%, he added, however, "with long
strcets and houses scattered all over the premises®., His further descrip—
tion of the Town is that "lansing is a town of 4,000 inhabitents surrounded
on all sides by woods. It seems if a whirlwird had helied) to make the
clearing and then had a city dropped down here among the stumps to fill
the vecuue (vacuma) without trimming off the rough edged.”

The Stete Lend Office which had been located at Marshall moved to
Lansing 1n 1849, so this too brought a numder of people to this City with
their first contact being with the Land Office for the purchase nf lend.
Other interests moved in and esteblished their places of business in
Lansing. Thus, our City grew and in 185G by Act 220, the Michigan State
legislature provided for the Town of Michigan to incorporate as the City
of Lansing with its boundaries including all of Sections 9, 16, 21, 10,

15, 22 and the east half of Section 8, the east half of Section 17 and the
east nalf of Section 20, Lansing Township. The Town of Michigan has
developed from two Sections in 1847 to seven and a half Sections in 1859 and
today the greater part of Lansing Township 1s included in the City of Lansing
and it is without question & CITY OF MAGNIFICENT DISTANCES.
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